Court of Appeals No. 43585-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

STEVEN C. POWELL,

Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County, Cause No. 11-1-03893-1 The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Presiding Judge

> Sheri Arnold, WSBA No. 18760 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 7718 Tacoma, Washington 98417 (253) 683-1124

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in failing to enter the requisite written findings of fact and conclusions of law after denying Mr. Powell's motion to suppress.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED

Should this court remand Mr. Powell's case for entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding his motion to suppress where such finding are required by court rule but the trial court failed to enter them?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

On August 25, 2011, police from various police agencies, including officers from West Valley City, Utah, searched Mr. Steven Powell's residence in connection with a separate investigation. RP 176, 278-279. Det. Ellis Maxwell of the West Valley City police searched Mr. Powell's bedroom. RP 280. Evidence recovered from Mr. Powell's residence was sealed in a trailer and taken back to Utah where it was examined. RP 280-283. Several computer discs were seized. RP 284.

Upon examining one of the discs found in Mr. Powell's bedroom, Utah police discovered images of what appeared to be underage females bathing and using the bathroom. RP 284. Police also recovered a digital camcorder from Mr. Powell's bedroom. RP 285-286. Upon examining the properties of the images on the disc, police discovered that the images were created by a camcorder of the same model as the camcorder discovered in Mr. Powell's bedroom. RP 285, 287.

After examining the discs, Det. Maxwell brought the disc with the images back to Pierce County and gave it to Pierce County Detective Sanders. RP 284-285. Detective Sanders examined the disc and found a folder titled "WW-1" that contained several subfolders; one titled "taking bath-1," one titled "Taking Bath-2," and one titled "open window in back house." RP 180-181.

These folders contained images of two girls who appeared to be between seven and twelve years of age. CP 9-11. He images were taken from outside the home of the two girls and show the girls unclothed, taking a bath, using the toilet, getting ready to take a bath and getting dressed and undressed. CP 9-11. In many of the photos the photographer focuses on the breast, buttock, and genital areas of the two girls. CP 9-11. The images appeared to be taken at different times since the girls are wearing different clothes and some pictures are taken in the daytime and others are taken at night. CP 9-11.

On September 19, 2011, police went to the residence located directly behind Mr. Powell's residence and observed that Mr. Powell's bedroom window faces a window on the side of the residence. CP 9-11. This side window is similar to the window depicted in the pictures of the

-2-

girls. CP 9-11. Police investigated the residence behind Mr. Powell's and determined that the bathroom in the residence was the bathroom depicted in the pictures of the young girls. CP 9-11. The bathroom is in a direct line of sight with Mr. Powell's bedroom. CP 9-11.

Det. Sanders located the family who had been living in the home behind Mr. Powell in the 2006-2008 time period and verified that the mother and two daughters in the family were depicted in the pictures found on the disc in Mr. Powell's bedroom. CP 9-11. The mother confirmed the images were taken at the residence located behind Mr. Powell's house and that she sometimes left the blinds open on the window facing Mr. Powell's home open due to the heat. CP 9-11. The mother of the girls told police she never gave permission to anyone to photograph her or her daughters and that any photographs were taken without their knowledge. CP 9-11.

Det. Sanders identified what he believed were seven separate times when each young girl was filmed in the bathroom. CP 9-11.

Also located on the discs of images were thousands of images of other females, both adult and juvenile, along with images of Mr. Powell urinating and masturbating. CP 9-11. The photographs of the women were mostly in public places, but the photographer focused on the women's buttocks, breasts, and genital areas. CP 9-11.

B. Procedural Background

On September 22, 2011, Mr. Powell was with fourteen counts of voyeurism and one count of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the second degree. CP 1-8. All charges included the aggravating factor that Mr. Powell's multiple current offenses and high offender score would result in some of the current offenses going unpunished. CP 1-8. The voyeurism counts had an additional alleged aggravator that the crimes involved an invasion of the victim's privacy. CP 1-8. On September 23, 2011, the charges were amended to correct Mr. Powell's birthday only. CP 12-19.

On March 5, 2012, Mr. Powell moved to suppress the disc containing the photographs. CP 23-34. Mr. Powell argued that the affidavit for the search warrant of his home contained insufficient facts to establish probable cause to search his home and vehicles. CP 23-34. Mr. Powell also argued that the search warrant was overbroad and violated the particularity requirement of the Fourth Amendment and the Washington Constitution. CP 23-34.

On April 23, 2012, a hearing was held regarding Mr. Powell's motion to suppress. RP 4-45, 4-23-12.¹

¹ Not all volumes of the report of proceedings are numbered consecutively. Reference to the report of proceedings will be made by giving the page number followed by the date of the hearing.

On April 24, 2012, the trial court denied Mr. Powell's motion to suppress all evidence found pursuant to the search of his residence. RP 11, 4-24-12.

On May 7, 2012, Mr. Powell moved to dismiss count XV, the possession of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct charge. CP 76-81. Mr. Powell argued that the State's evidence was insufficient to establish that any pictures possessed by Mr. Powell depicted a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct, a necessary element of count XV. CP 76-81. The trial court granted Mr. Powell's motion to dismiss count XV. RP 69, 5-7-12.

Pretrial, Mr. Powell moved to exclude evidence of journal entries from journals found in his bedroom, to exclude the thousands of images found on the disc not relevant to the specific charges against Mr. Powell, and to exclude evidence of the investigation of Josh Powell regarding the murder of Susan Powell. CP 108-122.

Also on May 7, 2012, the State filed its trial memorandum. CP 82-102. In its trial memorandum, the State listed the titles of the folders found on the disc in Mr. Powell's room and gave descriptions of the contents of each folder. CP 82-102.

The trial court held that all journal entries save one were inadmissible. RP 97-113, 5-8-12. The one journal entry the trial court

-5-

found to be admissible was an entry by Mr. Powell dated August 17, 2004, that stated, "I enjoy taking video shots of pretty girls in shorts and skirts, beautiful women of every age. I sometimes use these images for self-stimulation, but the images that raise me to orgasmic heights are those of Susan." RP 103-104, 5-8-12. The trial court did rule that the reference to "Susan" had to be redacted from the statement. RP 104, 5-8-12.

On May 9, 2012, a hearing was held to determine the admissibility of various categories of photographs discovered on the disc recovered from Mr. Powell's bedroom. RP 124-164. Mr. Powell did not object to the admission of the photographs of the two alleged victims in this case, only to the rest of the photographs on the disc. RP 128, 5-9-12. The State called Det. Sanders and had him name and describe the folders of pictures the State sought to introduce at Mr. Powell's trial. RP 124-164.

Det. Sanders described several folders and gave the following folder titles and description of the contents of the folders: "girl masturbating 040723" contained still pictures taken from a video pictures of a girl with her hands in her crotch area scratching her leg but that did not contain any nudity; "neighbors" which contained subfolders titled "Alexandra," "Cindy," and "Cindy's Sister" which contained images of a female walking her dog in Mr. Powell's neighborhood, another female walking in Mr. Powell's neighborhood, and pictures taken from inside Mr. Powell's residence of various females walking through his neighborhood, respectively; "Laura on 166th" which contained various images of a teenage female inside and outside her home; "SMP" which contained numerous sub folders of pictures of Susan Powell; and "Steve Miscellaneous" which contained numerous subfolder that contained pictures of Mr. Powell, nude, masturbating, and urinating. RP 128-144, 5-9-12.

The trial court held that the "girl masturbating" folder was probative and admissible and that Det. Sanders could give the jury a description of the contents of the folder but the State could not introduce the images. RP 150-151, 5-9-12. The trial court held that the "neighbors" folder and all of its sub folders ("Alexandra," "Cindy," "Cindy's sister," and "Laura on 166th") were admissible and that Det. Sanders could testify as to the descriptions of the images. RP 154-155, 5-9-12. The trial court ruled that the "SMP" pictures of Ms. Powell were not admissible. RP 158, 5-9-12. The trial court excluded the pictures of Mr. Powell masturbating to images of Ms. Powell contained in the "Steve Miscellaneous" folder but admitted the rest of the folders and ruled Det. Sanders could offer a general description of the pictures. RP 161-164, 5-9-12.

Mr. Powell's trial began on May 9, 2012. RP 174, 5-9-12.

At trial, the State introduced one photograph to support each count of voyeurism. RP 194-195, 5-9-12. Det. Sanders testified that plaintiff's exhibits 1 through 14 were exact printouts from the CD recovered from Mr. Powell's bedroom and that each picture appeared to be taken at a different time or during a different episode of filming, save for the exhibits relating to charges VIII and X, which were from the same episode of filming. RP 195, 205, 5-9-12. The State then elicited the titles of the folder of the other pictures as well as the descriptions of the contents of those folders from Det. Sanders. RP 212-217, 5-9-12.

On May 14, 2012, Mr. Powell moved to dismiss 12 of the 14 counts of voyeurism after the State rested on the basis that the State had insufficient evidence to support the charges. CP 161-169; RP 323-331, 5-14-12. Mr. Powell argued that the State had insufficient evidence to establish that the photographs were not all taken on the same day. CP 161-169; RP 324-325, 5-14-12. The trial court denied the motion to dismiss. RP 330-331, 5-14-12.

On May 14, 2012, the trial court entered an order dismissing Count XV, the possession of depiction of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct charge. CP 169.

On May 16, 2012, the jury found Mr. Powell guilty of all 14 counts of voyeurism. CP 285-298; RP 400-408, 5-16-12.

On June 7, 2012, Mr. Powell moved for dismissal of 12 of the 14 counts of voyeurism on the basis that the convictions violated his right to be free from double jeopardy. CP 310-322. Mr. Powell also moved for any remaining counts to be treated as the same criminal conduct for each victim. CP 310-322.

On June 15, 2012, argument was heard on Mr. Powell's motion to dismiss 12 of the 14 charges. RP 8-39, 6-15-12. The trial court agreed that counts VIII and X appeared to be from the same session and that counts VI and VII also appeared to be from the same filming session. RP 38, 6-15-12. The trial court vacated Mr. Powell's convictions on counts VII and X. RP 38-39, 6-15-12. The court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law and an order dismissing counts VIII and X. CP 369-371.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Powell to an exceptional sentence of 30 months. CP 372-388, 400-402.

Notice of appeal was filed on June 15, 2012. CP 420.

IV. ARGUMENT

Remand of this case is required for the trial court to enter the mandatory written findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding Mr. Powell's motion to suppress.

A trial court is required to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law followings it ruling in a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6 hearing. CrR 3.5(c); CrR 3.6(b). The purpose of the requirement that trial courts enter written findings and conclusions is to enable appellate courts to review the issues raised on appeal. *State v. McGary*, 37 Wn.App. 856, 861, 683 P.2d 1125 (1984). The remedy for a trial court's failure to enter the required written findings of fact and conclusions of law is to remand for entry of those findings and conclusions. *State v. Head*, 136 Wn.2d 619, 622, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998).

Here, Mr. Powell moved pursuant to CrR 3.6 for suppression of all evidence discovered pursuant to the search of his residence. CP 23-34. However, the trial court failed to enter any written findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding Mr. Powell's motion to suppress all evidence discovered pursuant to the search of his home.

This court must remand Mr. Powell's case to the trial court for entry of the requisite findings of fact and conclusions of law in order to permit Mr. Powell to raise any issues on appeal which might pertain to the trial court's denial of Mr. Powell's motion to suppress.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should remand Mr. Powell's case to the trial court for entry of findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the trial court's ruling on Mr. Powell's motion to suppress.

-10-