COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

STEVEN POWELL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper

No. 11-1-03893-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By MELODY M. CRICK Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 35453

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

E. ARGUMENT.

1. WRITTEN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW WERE NOT REQUIRED BECAUSE NO EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS HELD.

CrR 3.6 concerns motion to suppress. Part (b) states: "If an evidentiary hearing is conducted, at its conclusion the court shall enter

written findings of fact and conclusions of law." This has been reiterated in case law. In *State v. Whitney*, 156 Wn. App. 405, 407-8, 232 P.3d 582 (2010), a hearing with argument was held on defendant's motion to suppress but no evidentiary hearing was conducted. No written findings of fact were entered. *Id.* at 408. The Court of Appeals found that "the trial court was not required to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law on the suppression motion because no evidentiary hearing was held." Even before the current version of the rule was adopted, the courts recognized that when an issue before the court is purely legal in nature, written findings are not needed and in fact are superfulous. See State v. Pulido, 68 Wn. App. 59, 62-63, 841 P.2d 1251 (1992); see also State v. Stock, 44 Wn. App. 467, 722 P.2d 1330 (1986). Conclusions of law that relate to the suppression of evidence are reviewed de novo. State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 628, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009).

In the instant case, defendant filed a motion to suppress, the State responded and a hearing was held where both sides presented argument.

See 4/23/12RP. As the question presented by defense was purely legal, no witnesses were called and no evidentiary hearing was held. As such, written findings of fact and conclusions of law were not required. No facts were in dispute which is why no evidentiary hearing was needed and

- 10 - Powell, S.doc

why findings of fact would be superfluous. As this court reviews conclusions of law related to the suppression of evidence de novo, written conclusions of law also would have been superfluous. The trial court complied with the court rule. There is no reason to remand for written findings when they are not required. The trial court followed the rule and did not error.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERROR IN FINDING THAT THE SEARCH WARRANT PROPERLY IDENTIFIES THE NEXUS BETWEEN THE JOURNALS AND THE CRIMES BEING INVESTIGATED AND ALSO OUTLINES DEFENDANT'S OBSTRUCTIVE BEHAVIOR SUCH THAT OBTAINING A SEARCH WARRANT WAS NECESSARY.

It is well established in Washington that a search warrant is entitled to a presumption of validity. *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007), *citing State v. Wolken*, 103 Wn.2d 823, 827-28, 700 P.2d 319 (1985). When a search warrant has been properly issued by a judge, the party attacking it has the burden of proving its invalidity. *State v. Fisher*, 96 Wn.2d 962, 967, 639 P.2d 743 (1982). A judge's determination that a warrant should issue is an exercise of discretion that is reviewed for abuse of discretion and should be given great deference by the reviewing court. *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995).

- 11 - Powell, S.doc

"Affidavits in support of search warrants are to be read as a whole, in a common sense, non-technical manner, with doubts resolved in favor of the warrant." *State v. Casto*, 39 Wn. App. 229, 232, 692 P.2d 890 (1984). Hyper-technical interpretations should be avoided when reviewing search warrant affidavits. *State v. Freeman*, 47 Wn. App. 870, 873, 737 P.2d 704 (1987). The court is entitled to draw commonsense and reasonable inferences from the facts and circumstances set forth. *State v. Yorkley*, 139 Wn.2d 581, 596, 989 P.2d 512 (1999); *State v. Helmka*, 86 Wn.2d 91, 93, 542 P.2d 115 (1975).

In reviewing a search warrant for probable cause, the court looks to the four corners of the search warrant itself. *United States v. Damitz*, 495 F.2d 50 (9th Cir. 1974); *State v. Murray*, 110 Wn.2d 706, 709-710, 757 P.2d 487 (1988). Probable cause to search is established if the affidavit in support sets forth facts sufficient for a reasonable person to conclude that evidence of a crime can be found at the place to be searched. *State v. Maxwell*, 114 Wn.2d 761, 769, 791 P.2d 223 (1990). Facts that, standing alone, would not support probable cause can do so when viewed together with other facts. *Cole*, 128 Wn.2d at 286.

Probable cause for a search warrant requires two nexuses: first, a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized; and second, a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched. *State v.*

Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999), citing *State v. Goble*, 88 Wn. App. 503, 509, 945 P.2d 263 (1997). Nexus is defined as, "A connection or link." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009).

In the instant case, defendant's motion at the trial court and his argument on appeal specifically focus on the journals belonging to Susan Powell. CP 23-34. Defendant has never disputed that a nexus exists between the items to be seized and the place to be searched. Defendant conceded at the trial court that there is a nexus between the home and the journals. CP 23-34 (page 7). Defendant only challenges the first prong and alleges there is no nexus between the journals and any crime. Defendant questions the evidentiary value of the journal and also claims that the search warrant is based on Detective Sanders personal beliefs and unsupported conclusions. Defendant's claims are not supported by the affidavit.

The journals have evidentiary value and are a necessary part of the investigation. First, Susan Powell, the author of the journals, is the subject of a kidnapping and homicide investigation. CP 38-71 (Appendix A⁴). Her own words are useful to the investigators to possibly provide further leads and areas of investigation. Ms. Powell had kept a journal since she was eight years old. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5). The journal that

- 13 - Powell, S.doc

the West Valley Police had was found at her work. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5). It indicated that other journals were packed up. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5). The journal that the West Valley Police had obtained started on January 3, 2002. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5).

Ms. Powell would have been 20 years old in 2002. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 1). Ms. Powell had been engaged to Josh Powell since she was 19. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5). Other journals that covered the rest of the relationship between the Powell's are relevant since she is missing and he is the prime suspect. The trial court came to this conclusion after reviewing the affidavit and listening to argument. 4/24/12RP 8. The journals are the words of a missing mother who is the victim in a homicide investigation. She cannot speak for herself. Her journals are necessary to help police get a better understanding of her life and find out information that would help them develop further leads.

Second, the journals have a nexus to the investigation of the kidnapping and homicide. The test requires that there is a nexus or link between the journals and the criminal conduct. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140. (See also State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 693-4, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) - probable cause that murder had been committed and evidence of a

⁴ The search warrant and affidavit are attached as Appendix A to the State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Obtained by Search Warrant.

relationship between those who appeared to be involved in the crime was relevant.) As the affidavit explains, the journals are written by Ms. Powell, who is missing and is the victim in the kidnapping and homicide investigation. Her words and recordings of her daily life would be beneficial to the investigators to help understand her life and the people in it. By examining these journals, leads may develop as to people to talk to or places to investigate. They also may lead to further suspects or clear current suspects. These are reasonable inferences based on the fact that the author of the journals is missing and not just a personal belief of Detective Sanders. In fact, the trial court also came to the conclusion that the journals would have evidence of the relationship between the victim and the prime suspect as well as possible evidence of the motive of Josh Powell. 4/24/12RP 9. The relationships between the victim and the people around her, including those who appear to be involved in the crime, is relevant as noted in the **Stenson** case above. The journals written by the victim of the investigation are extremely relevant. There is a relationship to the crime. The nexus is clear. The trial court properly found that there was probable cause for the search warrant.

Third, defendant had been uncooperative with investigators which necessitated the search warrant. While defendant may have consented to a search on May 11, 2010, his cooperation with investigators did not

- 15 - Powell, S.doc

continue. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 5). Instead of bringing the journals to the police, defendant and his son went to the media and told them they had Ms. Powell's journals in their possession. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). On November 16, 2010, investigators requested the journals from defendant and his son. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). Defendant did not turn over the journals. Instead, defendant and his son tried to bargain with the investigators. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). Defendant and his son said they would only release a copy of the journals and would only release that if the investigators turned over to them the journal that investigators had in their possession. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). Essentially, defendant and his son were holding the journals hostage until their demands were met. However, after they made this demand, defendant himself then called investigators and said they were no longer interested in releasing the journals and would not be cooperating any longer. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). Defendant's actions hindered the investigation.

Defendant and his son then took to the internet and the media with the journals. Defendant and his son posted on his son's website, susanpowell.org, six scanned images that appeared to be entries from the journals. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6). In addition, defendant and his son went on the NBC Today Show and admitted to being in possession of

- 16 - Powell, S.doc

2000 pages of journal entries. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 6).

Defendant himself told the media that the journals were very important to the investigation. CP 38-71 (Appendix A, page 7). It seems disingenuous that defendant now argues that the journals are not related at all to the investigation. Defendant's actions of trying to bargain with investigators to release evidence in an ongoing homicide investigation and his declaration that he would no longer cooperate are obstructive.

Defendant's actions do not show cooperation and do show obstruction such that obtaining a search warrant was necessary.

The affidavit established probable cause for the warrant. As the journals were written by the victim of the homicide investigation who has yet to be located, their content was very relevant and could develop further leads as to who to talk to or where to search. There is a nexus to the crimes. The warrant is valid and there is no basis to suppress the evidence seized. The trial court did not error in denying defendant's motion to suppress.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNT XV, POSSESSION OF DEPICTIONS OF MINOR ENGAGED IN SEXUALLY EXPLICIT CONDUCT, WHERE THE TRIAL COURT RELIED ON CASES INTERPRETING A PREVIOUS VERSION OF THE STATUTE AND FAILED TO APPLY THE CURRENT VERSION OF THE STATUTE.

Defendant was charged with one count of possession of depictions of minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct in the second degree. CP 1-8. The charging language states, "did unlawfully, feloniously, and knowingly possess visual or printed matter depicting a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct as defined in RCW 9.68A.011(4)(f) or (g)." "Sexually explicit conduct" is defined in RCW 9.68A.011(4), which reads as follows:

- (4) "Sexually explicit conduct" means actual or simulated:
 - (a) Sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oralgenital, anal-genital, or oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex or between humans and animals;
 - (b) Penetration of the vagina or rectum by any object;
 - (c) Masturbation;
 - (d) Sadomasochistic abuse;
 - (e) Defecation or urination for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer;
 - (f) Depiction of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a female

minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer. For the purposes of this subsection (4)(f), it is not necessary that the minor know that he or she is participating in the described conduct, or any aspect of it; and

(g) Touching of a person's clothed or unclothed genitals, pubic area, buttocks, or breast area for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer.

RCW 9.68A.011(4). Sections (f) and (g) are the sections at issue in defendant's case.

In the trial court, defendant challenged the application of the above statute to his conduct. Specifically, defendant argued that the images he possessed did not meet the definition of "sexually explicit conduct." CP 76-81, RP 12-15. The cases defendant relied on all dealt with a previous version of the statute. CP 76-81, RP 12-15. Defendant focused on the argument that "sexually explicit conduct" does not encompass depictions of minors engaging in conduct that is not influenced by a third party and when the minor or third party is not intending to sexually stimulate the viewer. In the main case that defendant relied on, *State v. Grannis*, 84 Wn. App. 546, 930 P.2d 327 (1997), the only subsection of RCW 9.68A.011 at issue has since been amended. The definition in effect at the time included "exhibition of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer." Former RCW 9.68A.011(3)(e). The

court in *Grannis* essentially held that any "exhibition" must be done with the purpose of gratifying the sexual desire of the person who initiates, contributes to, or otherwise influences the occurrence of the exhibition itself. *See Grannis*, 84 Wn. App. at 549-50. The court went on to note that "[n]othing said herein means that the legislature could or could not criminalize conduct of the sort at issue in this case." *Id.* at 551-552.

In fact, the legislature did go on to criminalize the conduct at issue in *Grannis* and in the case at bar. In 2010, the legislature adopted ESHB 2424 (amending RCW 9.68A.011), set forth in relevant part below.

- (((3))) (4) "Sexually explicit conduct" means actual or simulated:
 - (a) Sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oral genital, anal-genital, or oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex or between humans and animals;
 - (b) Penetration of the vagina or rectum by any object;
 - (c) Masturbation;
 - (d) Sadomasochistic abuse ((for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer));
 - (e) ((Exhibition of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer:
 - (f))) Defection or urination for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer;

- (f) Depiction of the genitals or unclothed pubic or rectal areas of any minor, or the unclothed breast of a female minor, for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer. For the purposes of this subsection (4)(f), it is not necessary that the minor know that he or she is participating in the described conduct, or any aspect of it; and
- (g) Touching of a person's clothed or unclothed genitals, pubic area, buttocks, or breast area for the purpose of sexual stimulation of the viewer.

The plain language of the statute makes it clear that the victim need not be aware that he/she is participating in the conduct. The legislature also made a clear change from the word "exhibition" to the word "depiction." "Exhibition" is defined as "an act or instance of showing, evincing, or showing off." WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY, Unabridged, 796 (2002). "Depiction" is defined as "representation." *Id.* at 605. While exhibition clearly requires some sort of action on the part of the person being photographed, depiction is passive and does not require any action by the person being photographed. There is a clear change in the wording and intent of the statute. The legislature was clear in what acts it wanted to criminalize and clear that the person being photographed need not know or participate in the conduct for it to qualify as sexually explicit conduct.

The depictions in defendant's possession clearly meet the definition in the current statute. The depictions at issue here stem from the defendant's act of video recording young girls who lived in a residence

adjacent to the defendant's residence. RP 199, 216, 246-247, 251-252. From the defendant's bedroom, he captured the girls on video in their bathroom as they were changing clothes, bathing, or on the toilet apparently urinating. *See* RP 180, 184-187, 188-191, 191-193, 205-212, 284, 299. Frequently, he would zoom in on the girls' buttocks, breasts, and vaginal area. RP 187, 188, 190, 216. At times, the girls are seen touching their genitals and/or pubic area for hygiene purposes. RP 185-186, 188, 191, 193. These images, when viewed in context with other images stored on the same CD of defendant nude, undressing, urinating, and masturbating, are clearly possessed for the sexual stimulation of the viewer: defendant. RP 217. The images clearly meet the definition as set forth in the plain language of the statute.

Despite the plain language of the statute and the clear intent of the legislature, the trial court chose to ignore the statutory change and rely on the previous case law. RP 68-69. Specifically, the trial court found that the word change from "exhibition" to "depiction" was not a real difference. RP 68. The trial court also ignored the plain language of the statute that says, "it is not necessary that the minor know that he or she is participating in the described conduct, or any aspect of it" and found that because the minor victims in this case were not posed or directed in any way that the statute did not apply to defendant. RP 69. The trial court

substituted its own opinion for that of the legislature when it stated, "without a limiting instruction, theoretically, there would be almost no limits on what potential criminal liability would be for unclothed adults or children." RP 69. The trial court ignored the plain language of the statute, relied on cases that interpreted a pervious version of the statute that did not apply to defendant and substituted its own personal opinion for that of the legislature. The trial court substituted its own opinions for that of the legislature which is impermissible. The plain language of the current statute clearly criminalizes defendant's conduct. This Court should reverse the trial court's dismissal of Count XV and remand for trial.

F. CONCLUSION.

The State respectfully requests this Court affirm defendant's convictions and sentence. The State also request that this court reverse the

trial court's pre-trial decision that dismissed Count XV, reinstate Count XV, and remand for trial on Count XV.